IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CITY OF FERNLEY, NEVADA, a Nevada municipal corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA ex rel. DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION; THE HONORABLE DAN SCHWARTZ, in his official capacity as TREASURER OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; and THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, Electronically Filed May 20 2015 02:05 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court No.: 66851

District Court Case No.: 12 OC 00168 1B

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Attorneys for Appellant City of Fernley, Nevada:

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This case is properly before this Court based on the district court's October 6, 2014 Order and Judgment, which was a final judgment for purposes of NRAP 3A(b)(1) in that it rendered judgment on all claims pending among the parties. (JA 22:3948-4000). Notice of Entry of the Order and Judgment was served on October 8, 2014. (JA 22:4001-4057). Fernley's Notice of Appeal was filed on November 7, 2014 (JA 23:4205-4207), and was therefore timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1).

Two related orders are also on appeal. First, that part of the district court's June 6, 2014 Order dismissing all claims against the Treasurer (JA 7:1451–1457). Second, the district court's October 15, 2014 Order Granting the Department's Motion for Costs (JA 23:4190-4194).

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the district court err in concluding that the general four-year statute of limitations contained in NRS 11.220 applies to constitutional claims brought pursuant to Article 3, Section 1 and Article 4, Sections 20 and 21 of the Nevada Constitution?

2. Does Nevada's C-Tax system violate the special-or-local-law provision of Article 4, Section 20 of the Nevada Constitution?

3. Does Nevada's C-Tax system violate the general-and-uniform-laws provision of Article 4, Section 21 of the Nevada Constitution?

4. Did the district court err in concluding that Fernley lacks standing to allege a violation of the separation-of-powers provision of Article 3, Section 1 of the Nevada Constitution?

5. Does Nevada's C-Tax system violate the separation-of-powers provision of Article 3, Section 1 of the Nevada Constitution?

6. Did the district court err in dismissing all claims against the Treasurer pursuant to NRS 41.032(1)?

7. Did the district court err in awarding costs to the State?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1997, the Nevada Legislature passed Senate Bill 254, enacting the C-Tax system whereby six different state taxes would be collected, placed in a segregated State account, and appropriated by the Department of Taxation and Nevada Treasurer to local governments via a statutory formula. (Senate Bill 254 (69th Session, 1997); JA 14:2513-2529; *see also* NRS 360.680-690). Since 1997, the C-Tax system and the distributions therefrom have been largely unchanged, although the circumstances of the City of Fernley, one of the recipients of C-Tax funds, have changed dramatically.

Fernley incorporated as a municipality in 2001, and is the only local government to incorporate as a municipality in Nevada since the passage of Senate Bill 254 in 1997. (JA 14:2586-2587). Fernley's population and assessed valuation has more than doubled since 1997, and consequently the service needs for its residents have increased exponentially. (JA 7:1496.) In 2001, Fernley received \$100,032.03 in C-Tax. *See id.* In 2013, Fernley received \$133,050.30 in C-Tax. *See id.* By comparison, comparably sized cities received millions of dollars more in that same time frame, despite growth rates significantly lower than Fernley. *See id.* The distribution to Mesquite from 2001 to 2013 increased by \$2,119,650.26. *Id.* The distribution to Boulder City from 2001 to 2013 increased by \$2,597,747.07.

See id. The distribution to Elko from 2001 to 2013 increased by \$7,063,483.29. *See id*. Even the Elko Television District receives more C-Tax revenue than Fernley. (JA 8:1659)

These gross inequities have left Fernley unable to provide comparable, and in some cases even basic, levels of services to its residents, and have forced Fernley residents to pay high, and unique, property taxes, while comparably sized neighbors realize high levels of service and lower property taxes.

Even more egregious, the State of Nevada has created effective barriers that make it impossible for a city incorporating after 1997 to obtain any significant adjustment to its C-Tax distributions, has demonstrated a shocking level of indifference to the inequitable situation, and has chosen instead to ignore the plight of politically isolated communities like Fernley. The fact that Fernley is the only municipality to incorporate in Nevada in the last twenty years demonstrates that municipal incorporation in Nevada is functionally obsolete due to the C-Tax system. After repeated and futile attempts to seek additional revenues via administrative and legislative requests, Fernley had no choice but to seek relief from this Court.

As will be demonstrated below, the C-Tax system violates Article 3, Section 1 of the Nevada Constitution (separation of powers), Article 4, Section 20 of the Nevada Constitution (prohibition on special or local laws) and Article 4, Section

21 of the Nevada Constitution (guarantee of general and uniform laws). Fernley requests injunctive relief to ensure that distributions in the future meet constitutional standards.¹

IV. <u>PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

On June 6, 2012, Fernley filed its Complaint against the State seeking monetary, injunctive, and declaratory relief under both the United States and Nevada Constitutions. (JA 1:1–12). Subsequently, and despite objection from Fernley as it being unnecessary and duplicative, the Legislature forcibly intervened in this case. (JA 2:324–330; 3:648-650). The Respondents subsequently filed respective motions to dismiss which were denied by the district court without prejudice to allow for discovery. (JA 7:1341–1343).

Respondents thereafter petitioned this Court for review of the denial of the motions to dismiss. *See generally State Dep't of Taxation v. First Jud. Dist. Ct.*, No. 62050 (Nev. Jan. 25, 2013). On January 25, 2013, this Court issued its writ (JA 7:1371–1372) and order holding Fernley's federal constitutional claims were time barred, but declined Respondent's request to dismiss Fernley's state constitutional claims and ordered the parties to complete discovery (JA 7:1373–1377; 7:1390-1392). *See also State Dep't of Taxation v. First Jud. Dist. Ct.*, No. 62050 (Nev. Jan. 25, 2013). Following completion of discovery, the

¹ Fernley originally sought monetary relief in this case, but abandons that claim for remedy on this appeal.

Respondents filed respective motions to dismiss, which were subsequently converted to motions for summary judgment. (JA 7:1414-1420; JA 7:1421-1423). The district court initially dismissed all claims against the Treasurer, including claims for declaratory and injunctive relief, on the grounds of sovereign immunity. (JA 7:1451-1457). Fernley filed its own motion for summary judgment and sought reconsideration of the dismissal of all claims against the Treasurer. (JA 7:1458-2004; JA 12:2005-2045).

On October 6, 2014, the district court entered its order denying Fernley's motions for summary judgment and reconsideration and granting Respondents' motions for summary judgment. (JA 22:3948-4000). Shortly thereafter, the district court awarded costs to the Department. (JA 23:4190-4194). Fernley now appeals the portion of district court's order of June 6, 2014, which dismissed the claims against the Treasurer, the October 6, 2014 order and judgment, and the district court's order of October 15, 2014 awarding costs to the State.

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>

A. <u>The City Of Fernley.</u>

Fernley is located in Lyon County, approximately 28 miles east of Reno, Nevada. Over the past two decades, Fernley's population has more than doubled from approximately 8,000 people in 1997 to about 19,000 people today, and now accounts for approximately 36 percent of Lyon County's population. (JA 7:1496; JA 8:1526) During this time, Fernley has surpassed the populations of Mesquite and Boulder City and is approaching the population of Elko. (JA 7:1496). Fernley incorporated as a city on July 1, 2001, when its population stood at approximately 9,500 people, and currently is Nevada's seventh most populous city. *See id.*; (JA 8:1527). Fernley is the only city in Nevada to have incorporated since the inception of the C-Tax system in 1997. (JA 14:2586-2587).

B. <u>The C-Tax System.</u>

The C-Tax system is a complex mathematical formula to collect and distribute taxes to local governments and special entities in Nevada. At the broadest level, revenues from six different taxes are collected throughout Nevada by the Nevada Department of Taxation ("Department") and deposited into a segregated State account called the Local Government Distribution Account (the "C-Tax Account"). *See* NRS 360.660 et. seq.; *see also* (JA 14:2457).

The funds in the C-Tax Account are distributed on a monthly basis by the Department and the Nevada Treasurer to local governments, enterprise districts and special districts. *See* NRS 360.690. Local governments, enterprise districts and special districts have no restrictions on how funds from the C–Tax can be used and accordingly, funds are available for general operating purposes and are a primary source of local government revenue. (JA 14:2475-2476; JA 14:2447; JA 14:2510-2511; JA 14:2480-2481).

Distributions from the C-Tax Account are first made at the county level, commonly called a Tier 1 distribution. (JA 14:2521-2524). Tier 1 distributions are thereafter further segregated into Tier 2 distributions. *See id*. Tier 2 distributions are the actual dollar amounts provided to counties, cities, towns, and other C-Tax recipients within a county. (JA 13:2434-2435).

Tier 2 distributions are made at two levels – a base distribution and an excess distribution. *See* NRS 360.680-690. A base distribution is of paramount importance because that amount was set in 1997 and carries forward from year to year, and is adjusted for increases in the Consumer Protection Index ("CPI"). *See* NRS 360.680-690. For example, if a city had a base distribution of \$100 in 1998, they can count on a base distribution of \$100 (plus adjustments based on the CPI) in 1999, 2000, and so on.²

The excess distribution is based on increases to assessed valuation and population within a local government, and is an addition to the base distribution. *See* NRS 360.690. For example, if a city had a base distribution of \$100 and experienced significant growth in population and assessed valuation resulting in an excess distribution multiplier of 100%, the excess distribution would be \$100 and

² For example, in fiscal year 2001 Fernley's base distribution was \$93,923.45. In fiscal year 2002 Fernley's base distribution was \$97,116.85, and by fiscal year 2011, Fernley's base was \$120,631.97. (JA 14:2561-2562). By comparison, Boulder City had a base of \$6,113,660.93 in fiscal year 2001, and a base of \$7,836,416.68 in fiscal year 2011. (JA 14:2551-2552)

the overall C-Tax distribution would be \$200. For purposes of comparison, if a city with a base distribution of \$10 had the same level of growth in population and assessed valuation, its excess distribution would be \$10 and the overall C-Tax distribution would be \$20.³ As is evident, the base distribution, which was established in 1997, is of *critical importance* because the entire future of C-Tax distributions is based on that number – whether it be adjustments based on CPI or adjustments based on increased population and assessed valuation. Moreover, as demonstrated below, the C-Tax system is set up in a way that precludes adjustments to a base distribution, which endlessly perpetuates the status quo first established in 1997.⁴

C. <u>The Purpose of the C-Tax System.</u>

The Legislature's primary objectives behind the creation of the C-Tax system in 1997 included: (1) initially preserving the "status quo" in the distribution of C-Tax revenue; and (2) distributing future tax revenue to areas of growth. (JA 14:2653-2654, 2661-2663; JA 14:2463-2466; JA 14:2457). As time has told, however, the "status quo" has been preserved so well that it remains in place to this

³ For example, in fiscal year 2001 Fernley had an excess distribution of \$6,108.59 and an excess distribution in fiscal year 2011 of \$22,511.38 despite more than doubling in population and nearly doubling in assessed valuation. (JA 14:2578-2579). In other words, Fernley's excess distribution increased by \$16,402.79 despite a population increase of 9,368 people, equating to \$1.75 for each new resident.

⁴ For a more detailed description of the C-Tax system, see JA 7:1462-1478.

day nearly two decades later, eliminating revenue distribution to areas of growth such as Fernley.

The first consideration in the creation of the C-Tax system was that the participants be held harmless in terms of tax distributions. (JA 14:2463-2466; JA 14:2457). To accomplish this goal, the revenues previously received by each entity became the base distribution for that entity in the first year of the C-Tax. (JA 14:2600; JA 14:2651; JA 13:2438-2439; JA 14:2466; JA 14:2457; JA15:2696).

In setting the base distributions in 1997, there was no consideration of population, assessed valuation, or of what type of services were being provided by a local government, and indeed there was no prerequisite for any specific type of service. (JA 14:2629-2630, 2606). While this approach may have advanced the Legislature's short-term interest to preserve the status quo, it also had long-term implications because it established each recipient's initial distribution as its base for the allocation of C-Tax revenues in subsequent years, which carries on to this day.(JA 14:2651-2652; JA14:2601-2602).

The second consideration of the C-Tax system was to direct future revenues to areas of growth, which were defined as areas experiencing an increase in service needs based upon growth in population and the assessed value of taxable property. (JA 14:2661-2662; 2456-2457). However, since the inception of the C-Tax, the all-important base distribution has been unrelated to growth or to the nature and cost of services rendered by recipients even though the demand for services generally increases or decreases as their populations grow or decline. (JA 15:2709; JA14:2606, 2626; JA 14:2464).

Only excess distributions were to follow growth under the C-Tax. (JA 14:2446). After the first fiscal year of the C-Tax, it was possible for the total revenue generated under the C-Tax system to exceed the total combined bases of all C-Tax recipients. (JA 14:2656). This excess revenue is allocated to higher growth areas as determined by increases in population and assessed value of real property.(JA 14:2661-2663.) Excess revenue may not exist, however, in every fiscal year. (JA 14:2662-2663; JA 14:2625). Also, even when a recipient has obtained a distribution of excess revenue in a particular year, the amount of the distribution has not been added to the recipient's base for the following year, except during the period from approximately 1999 to 2002, and on a going forward basis from July 1, 2014. (JA 14:2604-2605; JA 8:1708-1709). *See also* Assembly Bill 68 (77th Session, 2013).

Accordingly, and despite the intent to have revenue follow growth, the C-Tax system has ensured that each recipient would generally maintain the same position relative to other recipients under the C-Tax system regardless of how their individual circumstances may change over time. (JA 14:2664-15:2668). In other words, an entity with a low base distribution in 1997 as compared to other C-Tax recipients would see that low base carried forward into the future, even as members with high base distributions would see that high base carried forward. Of course, any adjustments by percentage to the base would be significantly higher in terms of actual dollars for entities with a high base distribution, and nominal in terms of actual dollars for entities with a low base distribution. (JA 14:2457).

The C-Tax system has two other unique characteristics designed to perpetuate the 1997 status quo and which prevent revenues from following growth. First, there is no requirement that C-Tax distributions decrease for recipients that decrease or even discontinue any services. *See, e.g.*, NRS Ch. 360; *see also* JA 14:2626-2627, JA 13:2438. Second, there is no requirement that C-Tax distributions decrease if there is a decrease in population or assessed valuation. *See* NRS 360.695. Instead, the Department has the discretion to decrease C-Tax revenues if population and assessed values of a local government have decreased in the immediately preceding three fiscal years. *See id.*; (JA 14:2616, 2621-2622; JA 15:2683-2686; JA 14:2477-2478). Although such conditions have existed more than once, the Department has never decreased any C-Tax revenues. (JA 14:2477-2480; *see also* JA14:2627-2628.)

Thus, by its terms and as applied, the C-Tax system virtually guarantees that the revenue distributed to each recipient will be tied in perpetuity to its initial

revenue base established in 1997. (JA 14:2602-2603; JA 15:2675-2677; JA 13:2439).

D. <u>Newly Created Local Government Entities, Such As Fernley,</u> <u>Receive Different Treatment Under The C-Tax Than Local</u> <u>Government Entities That Existed At The Time The System Was</u> <u>Enacted, and Do Not Have an Opportunity for a Greater</u> <u>Distribution.</u>

There are only two statutory mechanisms for a Local Government to seek an adjustment to its C-Tax distributions. First, a governmental entity formed after 1998 (Fernley is the only such governmental entity), has a one-year window to request an adjustment. NRS 360.740. Second, governmental entities can enter into an interlocal agreement to redistribute revenues. NRS 360.740(7). Neither option exists for Fernley and in fact, are nothing more than illusory remedies.

NRS 360.740 provides that a local government created after July 1, 1998 could apply for a C-Tax adjustment if it provided police protection *and* at least two other specified services, including fire protection, construction, maintenance, and repair of roads, or parks and recreation, before it became eligible to receive C-Tax revenue. *See* NRS 360.740(1); *see also* JA 15:2672-2673; *see also* JA 15:2726. Local government entities that preexisted the C-Tax, by contrast, had no obligation to provide police protection or any other service as a prerequisite to their receipt of revenue under the C-Tax. (JA 14:2613-2614; JA 15:2674).

Regardless, a request under NRS 360.740 must be made by December 31 of the year before the first year it receives C-Tax. NRS 360.740(2); (JA 15:2728-2730). Because Fernley incorporated in 2001, this option is no longer available. *See id.*; JA 14:2615.

NRS 360.740 bears some additional comment as an example of an additional barricade to a C-Tax adjustment. First, the establishment of a municipal police department is an expensive proposition. (JA 15:2744-2746). Moreover, the statute provides that the local government must already provide a police department before it can even ask for C-Tax to fund a police department. See NRS 360.740(1) (stating that a local government "which provides police protection" is eligible for an adjustment, rather than saying "which will provide police protection."). This creates a classic catch-22 where a local government has to have a police department to ask for the funds to stand up a police department, but can't stand up a police department without the funds to do so. (JA 13:2436-2437). Furthermore, any request for an adjustment is subject to review by the Committee on Local Government Finance ("CLGF") and if it decides against an adjustment, no appeal is allowed. See NRS 360.740(4); JA 14:2472-2473. With membership of the CLGF made up of representatives of other local governments, who would stand to lose revenues with a redistribution, including one of whom is a lobbyist paid to

prevent Fernley from receiving an adjustment, there is no likelihood of success for a new entity in such a process. (JA 13:2427-2429; JA 14:2448-2450).

With all of these insurmountable obstacles, it is no surprise that Fernley, as the only entity to incorporate since the creation of the C-Tax, did not pursue the creation of a police department in 2001. Regardless, NRS 360.740 is only available for a limited window of time which has long expired for Fernley.

The only other statutory option for a C-Tax adjustment is the use of a cooperative or interlocal agreement *See* NRS 360.740(7); JA 14:2658-2659, JA 15:2667-2668. Notably, there have been no meaningful cooperative or interlocal agreements for the redistribution of C-Tax revenue since the system was enacted almost 20 years ago. *See* NRS 360.740(7); JA 14:2504-2505, 2509.

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