IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CITY OF FERNLEY, NEVADA, A NEVADA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION; THE HONORABLE DAN SCHWARTZ, IN HIS CAPACITY AS TREASURER OF THE STATE OF NEVADA; AND THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Jul 08 2015 10:44 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 66851

Appeal from First Judicial District Court, Carson City, Nevada, Case No. 12 OC 00168 1B

RESPONDENTS' JOINT ANSWERING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT

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

II. Fernley's claims are time-barred by the statute of limitations.

The district court correctly determined that: (1) the statute of limitations in NRS Chapter 11 applies to Fernley's state constitutional claims; (2) the statute of limitations began to run on Fernley's claims when it incorporated in 2001; and (3) the continuing violations doctrine recognized by federal law does not save Fernley's claims from being time-barred by the statute of limitations. (*JA22-1:3971-76.*)

As a preliminary matter, Fernley contends that because this Court had a clear opportunity in its mandamus order to address the statute-of-limitations issue for state constitutional claims but declined to do so, this Court has already decided as the law of the case that the statute of limitations does not apply to Fernley's claims. (Opening Br. at 23-24.) Fernley's application of the law-of-the-case doctrine is wrong as a matter of law.

For the law-of-the-case doctrine to apply, "the appellate court must actually address and decide the issue explicitly or by necessary implication." *Dictor v. Creative Mgmt. Servs.*, 126 Nev.Adv.Op. 4, 223 P.3d 332, 334 (2010). Issues that the appellate court declines to address "do not become the law of the case by default." *Id.* (quoting *Bone v. City of Lafayette*, 919 F.2d 64, 66 (7th Cir. 1990)). Therefore, "[t]he doctrine only applies to issues previously determined, not to matters left open by the appellate court." *Wheeler Springs Plaza v. Beemon*, 119 Nev. 260, 266 (2003); *Recontrust Co. v. Zhang*, 130 Nev.Adv.Op. 1, 317 P.3d 814, 818 (2014).

In its mandamus order, this Court directed dismissal of Fernley's federal constitutional claims as time-barred by the statute of limitations but stated "as to the remaining issues raised in the petition, although we make no comment on the merits of these arguments, we nonetheless decline to exercise our discretion to entertain this writ petition with regard to these issues." (*JA7-1:1375-76.*) This

Court clearly declined in its mandamus order to address the issue of whether Fernley's state constitutional claims are time-barred by the statute of limitations. Therefore, the district court's consideration of that issue was not precluded by the law-of-the-case doctrine.

Fernley contends that because this Court has not previously decided the issue of whether the statute of limitations applies to state constitutional claims, it can reasonably be inferred that no limitations period applies to such claims. (Opening Br. at 24.) Fernley, however, has not provided any authority to support a conclusion that the statute of limitations does not apply to its state constitutional claims seeking legal and equitable relief.

Since 1861, Nevada's statute of limitations has applied to all causes of action seeking legal and equitable relief. 1861 Nev.Laws, ch.12, §§1, 18, at 26, 29 (presently codified in NRS 11.010, 11.220). As early as 1868, the Court stated "it is clear that our Statute of Limitations embraces all characters of actions, legal and equitable, and is as obligatory upon the Courts in a suit in equity as in actions at law." *White v. Sheldon*, 4 Nev. 280, 288-89 (1868). As further explained by the Court, the statute of limitations:

embraces every civil action, both legal and equitable, whether brought by an individual or the state; and if the cause of action is not particularly specified elsewhere in the statute, it is embraced in section 1033 [presently codified in NRS 11.220], and the action must be commenced within four years after the cause of action accrued. Such is the plain reading of the statute and the evident intention of the legislature. State v. Yellow Jacket Mining, 14 Nev. 220, 230 (1879).

At the federal level, the U.S. Supreme Court has determined that "[a] constitutional claim can become time-barred just as any other claim can." Block v. North Dakota, 461 U.S. 273, 292 (1983); United States v. Clintwood Elkhorn Mining, 553 U.S. 1, 9 (2008). State courts have likewise determined that state constitutional claims can be time-barred by the statute of limitations. See, e.g., Rutledge v. State, 412 P.2d 467, 472 (Ariz. 1966) (upholding 2-year statute of limitations because "[t]he legislature may impose a reasonable time within which an action must be brought to recover damages recoverable under a constitutional provision."); Wood v. HSBC Bank, 439 S.W.3d 585, 592-94 (Tex. App. 2014) (applying residual 4-year statute of limitations to state constitutional claims for declaratory relief); City of E. Orange v. Livingston Twp., 27 N.J. Tax 161, 175-79 (2013) (holding that statute of limitations applied to state constitutional claims challenging excessive tax assessments).

Given this long-standing law in Nevada and elsewhere, it is untenable for Fernley to contend that no limitations period applies to its state constitutional claims. Thus, the district court correctly determined that the statute of limitations applies to Fernley's state constitutional claims to the same extent that it applies to any other claims for legal or equitable relief. The district court also correctly determined that the general 4-year limitations period in NRS 11.220 covers this case because no other statute provides a more specific limitations period.⁶ (*JA22-1:3971-76.*) Relying on *White Pine Lumber v. City of Reno*, 106 Nev. 778, 779-80 (1990), Fernley contends that this Court applied a 15-year limitations period to the plaintiff's constitutional takings claims and that it is more appropriate to analogize Fernley's claims to takings claims because Fernley alleges that it is being unconstitutionally deprived of tax revenues. (Opening Br. at 24-25.) Fernley's contentions have no merit.

First, it would not be appropriate to analogize Fernley's claims to takings claims because, as a political subdivision, Fernley cannot bring constitutional takings claims against the State as a matter of law. *City of Reno v. County of Washoe*, 94 Nev. 327, 329-31 (1978). Second, Fernley's claims are not similar to the plaintiff's constitutional takings claims in *White Pine Lumber* where the plaintiff—a private property owner—alleged that the city impermissibly required it to dedicate its constitutionally protected ownership interest in real property to the city as a condition for approval of a condominium project. 106 Nev. at 779-80.

⁶ Because the 2-year statute of limitations in NRS 11.190(4)(e) applies to federal constitutional claims arising in Nevada, it also would be reasonable for the Court to apply the 2-year period to state constitutional claims. *See Wilson v. Garcia*, 471 U.S. 261, 279-80 (1985); *Owens v. Okure*, 488 U.S. 235, 236 (1989); *Day v. Zubel*, 112 Nev. 972, 977 (1996). Under either the 2-year or 4-year period, Fernley's claims are time-barred as a matter of law.

Unlike a private property owner, Fernley cannot claim any constitutionally protected ownership interest in C-Tax distributions because no political subdivision has a constitutionally protected ownership interest in state tax dollars.

Finally, in *White Pine Lumber*, the Court held that a specific statute provided a 15-year limitations period for the plaintiff's constitutional takings claim which meant that the general 4-year period did not apply. *Id.* If anything, *White Pine Lumber* substantiates that: (1) the statute of limitations applies to constitutional claims; and (2) unless there is a different period in a specific statute, the general 4year period is the applicable limitations period. Because Fernley fails to cite any specific statute which provides a longer limitations period for its state constitutional claims, the district court correctly determined that the general 4-year limitations period in NRS 11.220 applies to Fernley's claims.

The district court also correctly determined that the statute of limitations began to run on Fernley's claims when it incorporated in 2001. Fernley contends that its "injuries, both past and future, were not apparent in 1997 or even in 2001, and did not manifest until Fernley grew significantly without receiving comparable C-Tax revenues." (Opening Br. at 26.) This Court rejected Fernley's reasoning in its mandamus order, stating that "[n]either party disputes that, at the time of the City's incorporation in 2001, the City was aware that absent specific circumstances, its base consolidated-tax distributions would be set by its previous distributions and would remain at that level." (*JA7-1:1375.*)

Moreover, when the facts giving rise to a claim are a matter of public record, the general rule is that the limitations period begins to run immediately because courts will presume that "[t]he public record gave notice sufficient to start the statute of limitations running." *Cumming v. San Bernardino Redev. Agency*, 125 Cal.Rptr.2d 42, 46 (Cal.Ct.App. 2002). Under this rule, the public record provides constructive or presumed notice or knowledge that is considered to be equivalent to actual notice or knowledge. *Id*.

Considering the public record preceding its incorporation, Fernley was aware in 2001 that it would not realize a significant increase in C-Tax distributions due to incorporation, regardless of any population growth. Fernley also was aware in 2001 that its C-Tax distributions could be increased only if it provided the required services under NRS 360.740, assumed the functions of another local government under NRS 354.598747, or entered into a cooperative agreement with another local government under NRS 360.730. Thus, Fernley was aware in 2001 that its C-Tax distributions would continue to be calculated and adjusted using its original base distributions and the statutory formulas, unless it complied with one or more of the statutory methods for increasing its C-Tax distributions. Because the public record conclusively establishes that Fernley had notice or knowledge of how the C-Tax system would apply to it in future years as an incorporated city, the district court correctly determined that the statute of limitations began to run on Fernley's claims when it incorporated in 2001.

Lastly, the district court correctly determined that the continuing violations doctrine recognized by federal law does not save Fernley's claims from being time-barred by the statute of limitations. In its mandamus order, this Court ordered the dismissal of Fernley's federal constitutional claims based on the statute of limitations even though Fernley argued for application of the continuing violations doctrine as an exception under federal law. (*JA7-1:1375.*) In doing so, the Court clearly rejected Fernley's reliance on the continuing violations doctrine to allow it to avoid the expiration of the limitations period, and that is now the law of this case. Given that the continuing violations doctrine, which is a creature of federal law, did not save Fernley's federal constitutional claims from the expiration of the statute of limitations, it follows that the doctrine does not save Fernley's state constitutional claims from the expiration of the expiration of the statute of limitations either.

It also is well established that continuing impact from past violations does not extend the statute of limitations. *McDougal v. County of Imperial*, 942 F.2d 668, 674-75 (9th Cir. 1991); *McCoy v. San Francisco*, 14 F.3d 28, 30 (9th Cir. 1994) ("statute of limitations period is triggered by the decision constituting the discriminatory act and not by the consequences of that act."). Instead, "the proper

41

focus is upon the time of the [alleged] discriminatory acts, not upon the time at which the consequences of the acts became most painful." *Abramson v. Univ. of Hawaii*, 594 F.2d 202, 209 (9th Cir. 1979).

Despite this authority, Fernley contends that the C-Tax system results in systematic and repeated constitutional violations with every dollar collected and distributed under the system. (Opening Br. at 25.) However, in applying statutes of limitations in other jurisdictions, courts have rejected arguments similar to Fernley's where the alleged "wrong" is the government's use of an unlawful formula and where alleged deficiencies in future distributions are simply continued ill effects resulting from the ongoing use of the allegedly unlawful formula. Under such circumstances, courts have concluded that the "wrong" occurred when the government first used the allegedly unlawful formula and that any alleged deficiencies in future distributions are not separate "wrongs" for statute-oflimitations purposes. See, e.g., Brown Park Estates-Fairfield Dev. Co. v. United States, 127 F.3d 1449, 1456 (Fed. Cir. 1997) (where HUD allegedly used unlawful formula to calculate government rent subsidies, "wrong" occurred when HUD first used formula to calculate subsidies and alleged deficiencies in future subsidies are not separate "wrongs" for statute-of-limitations purposes); Davidson v. United States, 66 Fed. Cl. 206, 207-10 (Fed. Cl. 2005) (where Defense Department allegedly used unlawful formula to recalculate survivor benefit payments, "wrong"

occurred when Defense Department first recalculated the payments and alleged deficiencies in future payments are not separate "wrongs" for statute-of-limitations purposes).

Even though Fernley alleges that a separate "wrong" has occurred with each C-Tax distribution since 2001, any "wrong" occurred, if at all, when the State used an allegedly unlawful formula to calculate Fernley's C-Tax distributions after its incorporation in 2001. Even if the amount of each C-Tax distribution to Fernley since 2001 has been deficient, the deficiencies are simply continued ill effects resulting from use of the allegedly unlawful formula in 2001. Therefore, because the alleged "wrong" to Fernley occurred in 2001 and because Fernley did not commence this action until 2012, the district court correctly determined that Fernley's state constitutional claims are time-barred by the statute of limitations as a matter of law.

III. Fernley's claims are time-barred by laches.

On appeal, a party who prevailed in the district court may "without cross appealing, advance any argument in support of the judgment even if the district court rejected or did not consider the argument." *Ford v. Showboat Operating Co.*, 110 Nev. 752, 755 (1994). Because the district court held that Fernley's claims are time-barred by the statute of limitations, it declined to consider the State's additional arguments that Fernley's claims are time-barred by laches. (*JA22-*

1:3976.) Although the district court did not consider the State's arguments, its judgment may be affirmed based on laches because Fernley's claims are time-barred by laches as a matter of law.

Constitutional claims may be time-barred by laches when there has been an unreasonable or inexcusable delay in bringing the claims and such delay has worked to the disadvantage or prejudice of others or has resulted in a change of circumstances which would make the granting of relief inequitable. *Miller v. Burk*, 124 Nev. 579, 598-99 (2008). The doctrine of laches is based on the maxim that equity aids the vigilant, not those who sleep on their rights. Am. Int'l Group v. Am. Int'l Bank, 926 F.2d 829, 835 (9th Cir. 1991) ("The fundamental premise of laches is that those who sleep on their rights surrender them; if you snooze, you lose."). To determine whether a constitutional challenge is barred by laches, the Court considers: (1) whether the party inexcusably delayed bringing the challenge and the length of the delay; (2) whether the delay constitutes acquiescence by the party in the validity of the legislation; and (3) whether the delay was prejudicial to others who relied on the validity of the legislation. Burk, 124 Nev. at 598-99. The applicability of laches turns upon the particular facts and circumstances of each case. Carson City v. Price, 113 Nev. 409, 412 (1997).

For purposes of applying laches, the fact that the plaintiff has publicly opposed governmental action in the political branches does not excuse the plaintiff's failure to promptly commence a judicial action. *See Batiste v. New Haven*, 239 F.Supp.2d 213, 225 (D.Conn. 2002); *Mussington v. St. Luke's-Roosevelt Hosp.*, 824 F.Supp. 427, 434 (S.D.N.Y. 1993), *aff'd*, 18 F.3d 1033 (2d Cir. 1994). In *Batiste* and *Mussington*, the plaintiffs argued that laches did not bar their untimely constitutional claims because they had engaged in "vociferous public opposition" to the defendants' construction projects at the local agency level before they commenced their judicial actions. The courts rejected the plaintiffs' arguments and found that their claims were barred by laches because "despite the plaintiffs vociferous public opposition" to the defendants' construction plans, the plaintiffs were required to address their grievance in court, not in the political arena, in order to preserve their claims." *Batiste*, 239 F.Supp.2d at 225; *Mussington*, 824 F.Supp. at 434.

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